
TOWN OF SMITHFIELD 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

AGENDA PACKET 

Chairman: Sarah Edwards 
Vice-Chairman: Jeremy Pearce 

Monique Austin 
Thomas Bell 

Stephen Wensman, AICP, RLA, Planning Director 
Julie Edmonds, Administrative Support Specialist 

Meeting Date: Thursday, January 30th, 2025 
Meeting Time: 6:00 p.m. 
Meeting Place: Council Chambers, Smithfield Town 
Hall 





AGENDA 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

REGULAR MEETING 
JANUARY 30TH, 2025 

MEETING TIME: 6:00 PM 
TOWN HALL 

 
 
 
Call to Order. 
 
Approval of the minutes for August 29th, 2024. 
 
Approval of 2025 Meeting Schedule 
 
Public Hearing. 
 
BA-24-09 Curated Collections Sign: Curated Collections of NC, LLC is requesting a 6’ variance to the 
Town of Smithfield Unified Development Ordinances, Article 10, Section 10.25.2.3.5.1, to allow for a 
reduced monument sign setback. This property is located at 259 Venture Drive, 250 feet south of the 
intersection with Peedin Road. This property is further identified by Johnston County Tax ID# 
15L11008T. 
  
Old Business. 
 
New Business. 
  
Adjournment. 
 



1 
 

              Smithfield 
Board of Adjustment Minutes 

Thursday, August 29, 2024 
6:00 P.M. Town Hall,  

Conference Room 
 
Members Present:        Members Absent: 
Sarah Edwards, Chairman        
Jeremy Pearce, Vice Chairman 
Thomas Bell 
Monique Austin  
 
Staff Present:             Staff Absent: 
Stephen Wensman, Planning Director  
Chloe Allen, Planner I     
Julie Edmonds, Admin Support Specialist 
           
CALL TO ORDER 
Approval of minutes from April 25th, 2024 
Jeremy Pearce made a motion, seconded by Tom Bell to approve the minutes as written. Unanimously approved 
 
Payroll Compliance: Andrew Harris, Finance Director, to discuss payroll compliance of the Board of Adjustments 
members. 
 
Finance Director, Andrew Harris addressed the board by explaining each member needed to fill out and turn in a 
W-2, Form W-4 and NC-4 to the Town as soon as possible to ensure continuous payment. Each board member will 
then be placed on payroll instead of being paid through accounts payable. 
 
Jeremy Pearce made a motion to open BA-24-04, seconded by Monique Austin. Unanimously approved. 
 
 
New Business 
BA-24-04 Market Street Plaza: The applicant is requesting an 8’ front variance from the 15’ Street Yard 
requirements of Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), Section 10.13.1.8.1, along the Goldsboro Road frontage to 
enable commercial site development. The property considered for variance is located at 1551 East Market Street, 
between East Market Street and Goldsboro Road, to the east of Dogwood Street and further identified with the 
Johnston County Tax ID 15K10023. 
 
Chloe Allen addressed the board; she stated the applicant is proposing a commercial strip center with required 
parking and landscaping. The site is about 166 feet deep on the west side and only 131 feet deep on the east side 
with street frontage on 3-sides. The developer is proposing 6-25 ft. x 50 ft. retail units and one 25 ft. x 60 ft. The 
units in the College Plaza Center, to the west, are comparable, but slightly larger in size (24 ft. x 60 ft.). Given that 
the units appear to be about the size that is feasible to construct and lease, and given the dimensional 
requirements for parking and landscaping, the site becomes restrictive for the development with the addition of 
the rear drive lane. The applicant feels this feature is needed for deliveries. 
 
Chairman, Sarah Edwards read the following Finding of Fact out loud. 
 
To approve a variance, the Board of Adjustments shall find all of the following provisions 
can be met (Staff’s finding are in bold/ italic): 
 

1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance. It shall not be necessary 
to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property. In 
absence of this variance, the 3-street frontages and narrowing of the property limit reasonable 
development. The board agreed unanimously. 



2 
 

2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size, or topography. 
Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common 
to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. The particular property is 
unique with street frontages on 3 sides, each requiring Street Yard buffers and the property narrows from west 
to east. The board agreed unanimously.  
 
3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of purchasing 
property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded 
as a self-created hardship. The need for the variance did not result from any actions by the applicant. The 
property was created long ago in its present shape and with 3-street frontages, together limiting reasonable use 
of the site without variance. The board agreed unanimously. 
 
4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the Ordinance, such that public 
safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved. The request is consistent with the spirit, purpose and intent 
of the ordinance, has no impact on public safety and achieves substantial justice. The adjacent commercial strip 
center was developed with a reduced rear street yard (12.5’), however, this reduction is no longer allowed in the 
UDO, and not an option for the applicant without the variance. The UDO allows a Street Yard planting area to be 
reduced to 7 feet to accommodate public sidewalks. The proposed Street Yard with the variance is comparable 
to that reduction. The applicant has minimized the impact by proposing retail units that have less depth than 
the adjacent development. Furthermore, the applicant has taken care to minimize the need for the variance 
with the reduced Street Yard corresponding with the narrowing of the property, and in no other location. The 
board agreed unanimously. 
 
Jeremy Pearce made a motion to approve variance BA-24-04 granting an 8-foot variance from the Street Yard 
along Goldsboro Road, based on the 4 finding of fact; seconded by Tom Bell. Unanimously approved. 
 
BA-24-05 Reginald Barnes/Martin Street: The applicant is requesting a variance to the Town of Smithfield Unified 
Development Ordinances, Article 8, Zoning District Design Standards, Section 8.4.1, to allow for a house to be built 
on a lot without street frontage. This property is located at the southernmost end of Martin Street. The property is 
further identified as Johnston County Tax ID# 15063037.  
 
Chloe Allen addressed the board; The applicant is proposing to build a house on an existing lot that does not have 
street frontage. The lot has public right-of-way in front of it, but this road has not been extended that far. The lot 
adjacent to this is a family home built in the 1960’s and the applicant is proposing to use the same driveway to 
access his new home. The surrounding lots are vacant and have been for many decades, with no development 
expected in the future. Typically to build on a lot without street frontage, the applicant would be required to 
extend the street. In this case, there is no apparent benefit to extending the street because it is at the dead end of 
that public right-of-way and no development can happen in the future past the applicant’s lot. The public ROW 
was never intended for thru traffic and comes to a dead end. The last known development on that block was in the 
1960’s and there is no apparent desire for the lots across the street to be developed anytime in the near future. 
The applicant would access the lot via an extension of the driveway used by the adjacent lot, which is owned by his 
mother, so there should not be any conflict or disturbance brought to neighboring lots by this variance. 
 
Sarah Edwards read off the Finding of Fact out loud. 
 
To approve a variance, the Board of Adjustments shall find all of the following provisions 
can be met (Staff’s finding are in bold/ italic): 
 
1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance. It shall not be necessary to 
demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property. In the absence 
of a variance, the applicant would be required to fund the extension of the road approximately 300’ with 
seemingly no benefit to him, the neighborhood, or the Town. The board agreed unanimously. 
 
2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, 



3 
 

size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from 
conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a 
variance. The location of the property is at the dead end of Martin Street, which has not been developed in 
many decades and has not had any expressed desire for development. The board agreed unanimously. 
 
3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of purchasing 
property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded 
as a self-created hardship. The neighborhood has not seen development in decades and the surrounding lots 
were likely built before the street frontage requirement was established. The board agreed unanimously. 
 
4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the Ordinance, such that public 
safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved. The request is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent 
of the ordinance, has no impact on public safety and achieves substantial justice. The board agreed 
unanimously.  
 
Tom Bell made a motion to approve variance BA-24-05 granting a street yard requirement variance, 
based on the 4 finding of fact; seconded by Monique Austin. Unanimously approved. 
 
BA-24-06 Brightleaf Plaza Signs: The applicant is requesting a variance to the Town of Smithfield Unified 
Development Ordinances, Article 10, Section 10.24.4, to allow for two signs to be built on one street frontage. This 
property is located on North Brightleaf Boulevard, between the two intersections with Waddell Street. The 
property is further identified as Johnston County Tax ID# 15005041. 
 
Chloe Allen explained Brightleaf Plaza has an existing 15 foot tall - 64 sq. ft. multi-tenant sign along Brightleaf 
Boulevard that identifies the Brightleaf Plaza and 5 tenants. The commercial center was expanded. Prior to the 
expansion, there was a second sign taller that advertised Enterprise Rental Car which was removed from the 
property with the expansion. The existing sign is located inside the 10’ setback from the street right of way. The 
UDO allows a single 15’ tall -150 sq. ft. “freestanding” sign per street frontage. The site is situated with street 
frontages on 3 sides; however, the side streets are primarily residential. The applicant’s existing sign has space to 
advertise 5 tenants and with the expansion, there is the need to advertise additional tenants. The applicant wishes 
to add a second matching sign on the Brightleaf Boulevard frontage. The total sign area of both signs will be less 
than what is allowed in the UDO for a single multi-tenant sign. The sign meets the UDO height requirements. With 
3- street frontages, the applicant has the right to have 3 signs, however, it placing advertising signs on low volume 
residential streets is not beneficial and may be considered a detriment to the residential properties. For the 
existing and new sign to match, the new sign requires a setback variance.  
 
Sarah Edwards read the finding of fact out loud. 
 
To approve a variance, the Board of Adjustments shall find all of the following provisions 
can be met (Staff’s finding are in bold/ italic): 
 
1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance. It shall not be necessary to 
demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use can be made of the property. In absence of 
this variance, the applicant will not be able to provide commercial signage to new tenants along the street, a 
requirement for such businesses to thrive. The board agreed unanimously.  
 
 
2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, size, or topography. 
Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as hardships resulting from conditions that are common 
to the neighborhood or the general public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. The project has road 
frontage Brightleaf Boulevard, a commercial street, and Waddell Drive, a residential street. The commercial 
center was expanded with the intention to have the new commercial expansion matches the older portion. The 
expansion created new tenant space and the need for an additional tenant sign area. The location of the project 
with 3 street frontages, technically allows a sign with 150 sq. ft. on each frontage, however advertising on a low 
volume residential street would not serve the project or the tenants and would be a hardship, so a 



4 
 

second sign is proposed on Brightleaf. For the sign to match, it needs to be the same size and in a similar 
location. The board agreed unanimously.  
 
3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. The act of purchasing 
property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify the granting of a variance shall not be regarded 
as a self-created hardship. The existing sign to be matched was permitted under a previous sign code by a 
previous developer in its nonconforming location. It is in the best interest of the town and project that the 
expansion looks cohesive, including having the signs match. The board agreed unanimously.  
 
4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the Ordinance, such that public 
safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved. The variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose and intent 
of the ordinance in that the applicant’s signs meet the height requirements, are below the allowed sign area 
maximums and is less than the number of allowed signs (3 potential). The applicant wishes to move the second 
sign to the commercial street to satisfy the advertising needs of the expansion and to have the new and old 
portions of the development match each other as one. The board agreed unanimously.  
 
Monique Austin made a motion to approve variance BA-24-06 granting a 10-foot variance from the sign setback 
and variance based on the 4 finding of fact; seconded by Jeremy Pearce. Unanimously approved.  
 
Jeremy Pearce made a motion to close the meeting; seconded by Monique Austin, Unanimously Approved. 
 
Old Business. 
None  
 
Adjournment. 
Jeremy Pearce made a motion to adjourn; seconded by Tom Bell. Unanimously approved. 
 
Julie Edmonds 

 
Administrative Support Specialist 
Town of Smithfield Planning Department 



 

Request for 
Board of 
Adjustment 
Action 

Agenda 
Item: BA-24-09 

Date: 1/30/25 
  

 

Subject: Curated Collections Sign Variance 
Department: Planning  

Presented by: Stephen Wensman, Planning Director 
Presentation: Public Hearing 

 
Issue Statement  

 To review a 6’ sign setback variance to allow a new multi-tenant sign to be placed 
near the public right-of-way.  

Financial Impact 

 None. 

Action Needed 

 To hold an evidentiary hearing, review the variance request and to decide whether 
to approve, approve with conditions, or deny.  

Recommendation 

 Planning Staff recommends approval of the 6’ setback variance, Case no. BA-24-
09, based on finding of fact. 

 

  
Approved:  Town Manager  Town Attorney 
 

Attachments: 
• Staff Report  
• Finding of Fact 
• Application 
• Site Plan 

  



 
Page 2 

 

 

Staff 
Report 
 

Agenda  
Item: 

BA-24-09 
 

  
  

 
 

REQUEST:       
To review a 6’ sign setback variance to allow a new multi-tenant sign to be placed near 
the public right-of-way. 
 
PROJECT LOCATION: 
The property considered for variance is located at 259 Venture Drive south of the 
intersection with Peedin Road. 
 
CASE DATA: 
Applicant: Curated Collections of NC, LLC 
Property Owner: Wendy Wolbert 
Tax ID#: 15L11008T 
Town/ETJ: Town  
Acreage: 1.73 acres 
Present Zoning: B-3 (Highway Entrance Business) 
Existing Use:       Commercial 
Water Service: Town of Smithfield 
Sewer Service: Town of Smithfield  
Electrical Service: Town of Smithfield   
 
ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USE: 
  Zoning Existing Use 
North B-3 Commercial 
South: B-3 Vacant 
West: B-3 Commercial 
East: B-3 Stormwater/Wooded  

 



 
Page 3 

 

 ANALYSIS: 
 
This property has been remodeled as a multi-tenant commercial building, consisting of 
retail, services, and churches. The site was developed years ago without standard 15’ 
wide street yard landscaping and with the paved parking/drive lane located 5 feet back 
from the public right of way.  The changes in use have necessitated the need for a multi-
tenant sign, however the current sign setback of ten feet is not feasible. 
 
The proposed sign is roughly 1’ wide at the base. With the variance, the sign will be 4 
feet from the property line and 22’ from the back-of-curb, The location will not impact 
ingress/egress at this site and should look harmonious from the street view.  
 
The is an existing legal non-conforming sign for the nail salon tenant that will be removed 
if the new sign is permitted. 
 
 
STAFF FINDING OF FACT FOR VARIANCE  
To approve a variance, the Board of Adjustments shall find all of the following provisions 
can be met (Staff’s finding are in bold/ italic)(the applicant’s finding are in the report 
packet): 
1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance. It shall 
not be necessary to demonstrate that, in the absence of the variance, no reasonable use 
can be made of the property. In absence of this variance, the applicant w ill not 
be able to provide commercial signage to new  tenants along the street, a 
typical requirement for such businesses to thrive. 
2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as location, 
size, or topography. Hardships resulting from personal circumstances, as well as 
hardships resulting from conditions that are common to the neighborhood or the general 
public, may not be the basis for granting a variance. The property lacks a standard 
15’ street yard; therefore the required 10’ setback is not feasible. No other 
feasible locations for a sign exist on site.   
3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner. 
The act of purchasing property with knowledge that circumstances exist that may justify 
the granting of a variance shall not be regarded as a self-created hardship. This site 
was developed decades ago and is a legal non-conforming property w ithout a 
standard street yard and no feasible location for a ground mounted sign. 
4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the 
Ordinance, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved. The 
variance is consistent w ith the spirit, purpose and intent of the ordinance in 
that the applicant’s signs meets all other signage requirements. 



 
Page 4 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Planning Staff recommends the Board of Adjustment approve the 6-foot setback variance 
for a multi-tenant sign based on the finding of fact for variances. 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
 
“Move to approve variance BA-24-09 granting a 6-foot variance from the sign setback, 
based on the 4 finding of fact (comment/vote on each): 
1. Unnecessary hardship would result from the strict application of the Ordinance.  
2. The hardship results from conditions that are peculiar to the property, such as 

location, size, or topography.  
3. The hardship did not result from actions taken by the applicant or the property owner.  
4. The requested variance is consistent with the spirit, purpose, and intent of the 

Ordinance, such that public safety is secured, and substantial justice is achieved.  

















Pa
rc
el
ID

N
am

e1
N
am

e2
Ad

dr
es
s1

Ad
dr
es
s2

Ci
ty
St
at
eZ

ip
15

L1
10

08
T

W
O

LB
ER

T,
 W

EN
D

Y 
L

62
2 

LO
RE

N
ZO

 D
R

N
 M

YR
TL

E 
BC

H
, S

C 
29

58
2-

66
13

15
L1

10
08

U
SP

AR
KS

 M
CL

AM
B 

IN
VE

ST
M

EN
TS

 L
LC

11
1 

M
AR

IA
H

 D
R

FO
U

R 
O

AK
S,

 N
C 

27
52

4-
84

33
15

L1
10

08
TO

W
N

 O
F 

SM
IT

H
FI

EL
D

P 
O

 B
O

X 
76

1
SM

IT
H

FI
EL

D
, N

C 
27

57
7-

00
00

15
L1

10
08

V
KU

AN
G

, Z
H

IJI
AN

17
 W

O
O

D
 S

TO
RK

 C
T

CL
AY

TO
N

, N
C 

27
52

0-
41

78
15

L1
10

08
W

VE
N

TU
RE

 P
LA

CE
 L

LC
PO

 B
O

X 
10

5
SM

IT
H

FI
EL

D
, N

C 
27

57
7-

00
00

15
00

80
45

U
M

O
H

AM
ED

 A
N

D
 S

O
N

S 
IN

C
P 

O
 B

O
X 

12
36

SM
IT

H
FI

EL
D

, N
C 

27
57

7-
00

00
15

L1
10

08
S

AL
LI

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

IN
C

35
0 

W
AG

O
N

ER
 D

RI
VE

  S
TE

 1
00

FA
YE

TT
EV

IL
LE

, N
C 

28
30

3-
00

00

BA
-2

4-
09

 C
ur

at
ed

 C
ol

le
ct

io
ns

 A
dj

ac
en

ts
 L

is
t





   
 

2025 
              Board of Adjustments  

           Meeting Schedule  
         
 

Thursday, January 30, 2025 
 

Thursday, February 27, 2025 
 

Thursday, March 27, 2025 
 

Thursday, April 24, 2025 
 

Thursday, May 29, 2025 
 

Thursday, June 26, 2025 
 

Thursday, July 31, 2025 
 

Thursday, August 28, 2025 
 

Thursday, September 25, 2025 
 

Thursday, October 30, 2025 
 

Thursday, November 20, 2025 
 

Thursday, December 18, 2025 
 
 

         **All meetings begin at 6:00 pm and are held in the Town Council 
Chambers** 





 
2025 

  Board of Adjustment 
Directory 

 
 
 
 
Chairman:  Sarah Edwards (ETJ Alt)           Vice Chair: Jeremy Pearce (In-Town) 
      1282-E Packing Plant Road                              409 E. Lee Street 
  Smithfield, NC 27577         Smithfield, NC 27577 
  919-796-2899 (C)         919-631-9257 (C) 
  sarahelizabethedwards@gmail.com        jpearce@theinsuranceshoppe.com 
     
                           
 
 
Members:       Thomas Bell (In-Town Alt)                  Monique Austin (In-Town)  
  301 Longview Drive        103 E. Parker Street  
  Smithfield, NC 27577        Smithfield, NC 27577 
  919-369-4667 (C)        919-725-7745 (C)  

tombellnc@gmail.com       mcaustin@hotmail.com  
   
                
   
                                          
 
   
 
   
 

mailto:sarahelizabethedwards@gmail.com
mailto:jpearce@theinsuranceshoppe.com
mailto:01022@chick-fil-a.com
mailto:mcaustin@hotmail.com

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



